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Palermo in the 14" Century: Between Latins
and Catalans

During the Middle Ages the art of Sicily was characterized by a great plurality of artistic
influences and styles due to the position of the island in the middle of the Mediterranean
basin, which made it a border land where different cultures coexisted influencing each other.
The Norman dominion created a unique example of cultural syncretism uniting Norman ar-
chitecture, Byzantine decoration and Arabic art. During this period Palermo becomes one of
the biggest cities in the Western Europe [30, p. 117]".

Under the dominion of Frederick II (1194-1250) the capital lost its importance and
the population declined drastically [46, p. 114]. The artistic and architectural activity was
strictly reduced. The only constructions of this period in the city were the completion of the
cathedral started in 1169 by Gualtiero Offamilio (1 1190) [39, pp. 133-134; 40, pp. 15-27],
and the building of the church of S. Francesco, started in 1255 and completed in 1302 [43,
pp. 37, 51-58].

After the fall of the Swabian dominion, from 1266, Sicily was subjected to the power of
Charles I of Anjou (1224-1285), who imposed a strict fiscal policy for financing his wars out-
side the island [44, pp. 167-168]. During his reign he never trusted the Sicilians and all the key
roles in the government were given to French nobles or jurists or other persons coming from
his dominions [44, pp. 165-167].

These conditions and this treatment of the population prepared the revolt that exploded at
the Vespers of the Easter Monday of 1282. On that day a French soldier tried to abuse a mar-
ried Sicilian woman and was killed by her husband; when the comrades wanted to intervene
to revenge him, the popular rebellion arose with the cry “moranu li Francisi” — Death to the
French — exterminating all the French in the city [44, p. 280-281].

The rebels wanted the papal protection and a king with Swabian heritage, but Martin IV
(1281-1285), a French pope, refused to help them imposing the Interdict to the island [44,
p- 287]. Then the Sicilians offered the crown of the Sicilian kingdom to Peter IIT of Aragon
(1240-1285), the husband of Constance (1249-1302), the daughter of Manfred of Sicily
(1232-1266) [44, p. 295].

The new king had no real power, and the baronial families, both local and from Iberic
peninsula, ruled the island originating a division between Latin and Catalan fractions® These

For a history of the art of the Normans dominion see [1; 30; 46].
2 For the fights between these families and the weakness of the Aragonese power see [2; 34; 35].



526 E. Pizzoli

families showed their power through the construction of their residences, new ecclesiastical
buildings and family chapels [19; 25; 38; 39].

In this period Palermo, subjected to Chiaramonte family?, witnessed the manifestations of the
baronial power of the Latin fraction, resulting in the construction of new palaces, chapels and
churches. These buildings were decorated with the inlayed stone technique, or tarsia, inherited
from the Normans and probably conveying some political message against the Catalans.

The origin of this type of decoration is not certain, the opinions of the art historians divide
into two theories. The first follows the line traced by Emile Bertaux in his work, Lart dans
I'Ttalie Méridionale, hypothesizing the origins of this decorative pattern in the Arabic world [5,
pp- 620-622]*. The second, supported by monumental evidence, suggests that the lithic tarsia
originated in Campania, in particular, Salerno, after the Norman conquest in 1076 [7; 21].

After the conquest Robert Guiscard (1015-1085) and the Archbishop Alfanus (+ 1085) fi-
nanced the construction of the new cathedral consecrated in 1084 [26, p. 43]. The cathedral’s
four-sided portico presents blocks of different color and the insertion of round decorative
patterns enriched with tarsia. The use of this kind of decoration could have been influenced
by Montecassino Abbey rebuilt by Desiderius (1027-1087) and consecrated in 1071. Alfanus,
the former monk of this abbey, was there when the new monastery was consecrated. The new
structure could have had this kind of decoration [7, p. 19].

Tarsia is also present in other buildings of Salerno, such as the loggia in S. Maria della Pieta.
The church is first mentioned in 1219, but the arches with the stone inlay are dated to the Ro-
manesque period [27, pp. 49-52]. The black stone is inserted, with a geometric design, in the
stringcourse and in the cornice of the arches.

Another example is the Fruscione palace consisting of several buildings probably united
at the end of the 13" — beginning of the 14" century [17, pp. 258-260; 18]. The 12* century
part preserved in the western facade is characterized by the remains of windows with the same
decoration as in the loggia of S. Maria della Pieta [18, p. 31].

Yet the most important example in Salerno are the remains of Castel Terracena, the first
residence of Robert Guiscard, already completed in 1086 [26, p. 19]. It has the same decora-
tion of the windows as the cathedral, and also some new elements, such as the cornices that
underline the arches of the windows and a decorative band with geometric design.

Following this theory, the stone inlay comes to Sicily with the Normans. One of the oldest
examples of this pattern in the island is in the Church of Ss. Pietro e Paolo d’Agro, dated to
1117 (7, p. 10].

In Sicily this decoration becomes more elaborated than in Campania, which is evident in
the bell tower of the Martorana started in 1143 [30, pp. 75-76], in the apses and the cloister of
Monreale cathedral, built between 1172 and 1189 [28], and in Palermo cathedral started un-
der Gualtiero Offamilio (+ 1190) in 1169, consecrated in 1185, and finished in the 15" century
[3; 16; 39; 40]. In these buildings the stone inlay covers not only the architectural details but
also the entire walls. Some vegetal and heraldic motifs were also introduced in this decoration
in Sicily.

For the presence of Chiaramonte family in Palermo see [34; 35; 36].
4 This hypothesis was also shared by Toesca [45, pp. 595-596] and Rosi [42, pp. 348-349].
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Probably the long construction of the cathedral was the reason for maintaining this deco-
rative pattern in Palermo until the 14" century®. In fact, the cathedral fagade was completed
during the 14" century [16; 39] and the South portal was built in the 15™ century [3; 40].

As mentioned before, in the 14™ century the stone inlay becomes a sort of political message
used by the Latin families in opposition to the Catalans.

The first example is the Chiaramonte palace (Ill. 94), also referred to in the documents as
Steri, derived from hosterium Magnum [39, p. 55]. The building is located near the Cala, the
ancient harbor, in a terrain that Giovanni I Chiaramonte (+ 1339), count of Modica, bought
from fra’ Cirino, prior of S. Mary in Ustica, in 1306 [39, p. 39]. The construction of the palace
is dated to the 1320-1330s [41, pp. 391-393]°.

The structure is a quadrangular block with a central court with a porch characterized by
eight pointed arches, two on each side, sustained by eight round pillars. In the beginning the
palace had only two storeys, the ground floor and the noble floor.

The second phase of the palace construction was probably due to Manfredi IIT (1 1391).
In 1377-1380 he decided to decorate with paintings the Sala Magna’, the large room in the
noble floor. He commissioned the paintings to three painters: Cecco from Naro, Simone from
Corleone and Pellegrino Darenu [6, p. 37]. During this period the construction of the second
floor was started, yet it remained incomplete. Only an open gallery and the Sala delle Capriate
at the top of the building were constructed [29, pp. 42-43].

The exterior of the Steri resembles a solid cubic tower. The building represents the passage
from a donjon to a civic residence. The ground floor has an austere character with embrasures
intended to give light to the interior. The entrances are posed on the South fagade, as well as
on the East and North side.

The noble floor, divided from the ground floor by a stringcourse and decorated with dia-
mond-shaped blocks, is less austere. On all sides it is enriched with double arched and triple
arched windows linked to each other with a decorative molding. The distribution of the win-
dows underlines the importance of the interiors: the triple arched windows give light to the
Sala Magna, posed on the North side of the palace, and the double arched windows give light
to other rooms. The palatine chapel in the North side of the building is recognizable from the
outside thanks to a small oculus.

The openings and the molding are decorated with the stone tarsia (Fig. 1), which is used to
underline with a geometric design the pointed arches of the windows and the cornices of the
oculi. In the molding the black stone emphasizes the sculpted vegetal design.

The triple arched and double arched windows on the internal porch that give light to the
Sala Magna are realized with a different technique. These openings present sculpted cornices
and oculi decorated with an intricated tracery without the use of tarsia. The cornices present
a chevron decoration used in a radial and perpendicular pattern.

The Chiaramonte palace became an example for other families. We know from the local
chronicles that Matteo Sclafani (1280/81-1354), brother-in-law of Manfredi I Chiaramonte

For all phases of the cathedral construction see [4; 13].
6 For the history of the palace and its phases see [21; 29; 31; 39].
7 For the paintings see [6; 8; 10; 11; 12; 21].
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Fig. 1. Window. 14% century. Chiaramonte palace.
Palermo. Photo by E. Pizzoli

(f 1321), wanted to build, in a year, a residence
bigger than the Steri [37, pp. 113-114]. The
result of this challenge was the Sclafani pala-
ce (IIl. 95) built near the Normans palace in
the Cassaro quarter, in order to underline the
power of the owner. Constructed in 1330, the
structure has a square plan with a central court
with a porch on the ground floor and an open
gallery on the noble floor and an atticus. The
palace’s facade is 50 meters long, ten meters
more than that of the Steri, and is decorated
with round interlaced arches. The ground
floor, modified in the late 19" century, when
the palace became a Carabinieri station, pre-
serves the original entrance characterized by
a pointed arch with a cornice decorated with Fig. 2. Portal. 14" century. Sclafani palace. Palermo.
palmette (Fig. 2). On the top there is an edicula  photo by E. Pizzoli

with the coat of arms of Palermo, of the King-

dom of Sicily, of the Aragon family and the Sclafani one, composed of two cranes; on the
edicula’s top there is a marble statue of an eagle made by Bonaiuto Pisano [37, p. 118].

Like in the Steri, the noble floor is enriched by a series of mullioned windows, with oculi
on their top, included in interlaced round arches. Arches, windows and oculi are decorated
with stone tarsia. It is used here in a way different from that in Chiaramonte palace. In fact,
the black stone doesn’t have a geometric or vegetal design but it is used in blocks alternating
in the cornices with the palace’s limestone blocks.

The black stone also appears in other palaces and structures preserved in the city. Some
of these buildings present the patterns used in Sclafani palace, others use the Chiaramonte
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palace ones. An example discovered in
the 1980s [33, pp. 152-153] is the Ce-
fala palace (Fig. 3) which belonged to
the Opezzinga family in the 14™ cen-
tury [38, p. 323]. The palace, located in
via Alloro, the main street of the Kalsa
quarter, is now included in other build-
ings. Its front side is preserved. It fea-
tures the remains of triple arched and
double arched windows, like Sclafani
palace, with lava stone blocks alternated
with the limestone blocks. This exam-
ple also includes the sculpted chevrons
as seen in the internal windows of the
Steri.

Other two buildings show a different
use of the black stone. The first is the
double arched window, of an unknown
palace, included in the 16™-century
residence of Castrone di Santa Ninfa
family [38, pp. 32-33; 39, p. 117]. In
this case the tarsia is used to trace a se-
ries of interlaced arches. This design is
also used in the anonymous palace in
Alessandro Paternostro street redis-
covered in recent years [20]. The last
private building is the Santamarina
palace, built in the 14™ century by the
Crispo family on the ancient walls of
the city. The fagade is characterized by
alternated black and limestone strips.
This is a uniqum in Palermo with this
kind of decoration [38, pp. 119-120;
39, pp. 112-113] (Fig. 4).

The stone tarsia was also inserted in
some Norman defensive buildings in-
cluded in the 14" century in new con-
structions. The first example is found in
the tower of the 17" century Federico
family palace, where a double arched
window with a geometric decoration re-
minding the Steri was opened in the 14"
century [25, pp. 20-22; 38, pp. 48-50;

Fig. 3. Window. 14% century. Cefala palace. Palermo.
Photo by E. Pizzoli

Fig. 5. Window. 14% century. S. Antonio allo Steri. Palermo.
Photo by E. Pizzoli
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Fig. 4. Detail of the facade. 14" century. Santamarina palace. Palermo. Photo by E. Pizzoli

39, pp. 108-111]. The second example is the belltower of S. Nicolo in Albergaria, modified
with the insertion of the black stone in the windows [25, pp. 19-20; 39, pp. 101-107].

The baronial families also used the inlay decoration in the religious buildings, such as
the facade of S. Agostino church built at the end of the 13" century and completed in the
first half of the 14™ century. The decoration similar to the Steri enriches the portal [39,
pp- 140-146]. On the sides there appear the shields of Chiaramonte and Sclafani families
made with the black stone.

A very particular use of the tarsia and a unique case in an interior is found in Calvello
chapel in S. Francesco basilica [25, pp. 76-77; 39, pp. 121-122]. Built in the first half of the
14" century by Giovanni Calvello, the chapel with a square plan and an apse is covered
with a ribbed vault. The structure presents some elements derived from the Norman tradi-
tion, such as columns at the base of the apse arch. The volcanic stone is used to decorate
the interior of the chapel in a rich sequence of geometric and floral design which covers all
the structural elements. Even the family’s coat of arms is used as a decorative pattern and is
repeated in an obsessive way.

Only in the second half of the 14" century a new type of architectural language appeared in
the buildings. The first example is S. Antonio allo Steri [25, pp. 51-52; 39, pp. 153-156]. The
inscription on the fagade windows says that this small church was built by a Manfredi, prob-
ably Manfredi IIT Chiaramonte, at the time of the works that he commissioned in the Steri [15,
p- 7]. The chapel is located near the great residence of the Counts of Modica. It is a single hall
covered by two ribbed vaults with bosses and polygonal ribbed vault apse, which is rare for the
architecture of Palermo, where wooden trusses were more common.

On the outside, the building is an austere block characterized by three levels separated by
two stringcourses. The first one is decorated with cubic denticles and the second with dia-
mond pattern. On the facade there are two windows in white limestone and a marble portal,
all decorated with the Chiaramonte family emblem.

The difference from the nearby palace is clear. It confirms the attribution of the building to
Manfredi III. In fact, the chapel has more gothic details: the high ribbed vaults sustained by
beam pillars, which give to the structure a more vertical movement; the high lancet windows;
the armaria decorated with a gothic trefoil tracery and the ribbed umbrella-type apse.
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As in Calvello chapel, the family emblem is also used here, but in a different way, as a deco-
rative pattern: the tracery of the lancet windows reminds of the five mounts of the Chiara-
monte coat of arm (Fig. 5).

The second example is another commission of Manfredi III, the abbey of S. Maria in
Baida. The monastery was built after the destruction in 1370 of the fortress Castellaccio
of Monreale, property of S. Martino alle Scale abbey. The castle was attacked by Manfredi
suspecting that the monks wanted to give it to the Catalans [14, p. 5]. After the destruction
the bishop of Monreale and the pope Urban V (1362-1370) tried to resolve the dispute be-
tween the Monastery and Manfredi III. The Count refused to rebuild the fortress. In 1371
he proposed to donate the fief of Baida to S. Martino alle Scale and “...Sancate Maric de
Angelis fundare...” [32, p. 281]. The construction probably started in 1388, after the papal
approval of 1385 [32, p. 252].

The uncompleted abbey is located 5 kilometers outside Palermo, on the top of a promon-
tory at 167 meters on the sea level, located between the Monte Cuccio and the Conca d’Oro.
The complex preserves the medieval phase: the church, some parts of the cloister, the chapter
house front and two windows of the dormitory. The fagade is characterized by a mullioned
window, with Chiaramonte coat of arms, included in a hood mould sustained by two semico-
lumns. The front of the church is closed by a porch with three pointed arches, probably added
in the 15" century®. The hood mould design, like the lancet windows of S. Antonio allo Steri,
reminds the family’s heraldic emblem.

The interior is a single hall church with separated choir. Originally the structure was cov-
ered by wooden trusses. It was modified in the 18" century, between 1755 and 1756, when
the architect Orazio Furetto (1714-1785) remade the interior covering the medieval walls and
building the actual barrel vault [14, pp. 37-38]. The choir, separated by a triumphal arch and
restored in the 1980s, is covered by ribbed vault, with boss sustained by corbels.

The architectural decoration of the uncompleted cloister shows a mixture of some Norman
and Catalan gothic elements. The only part of the cloister completed under Manfredi III are
the six bays in the south and east galleries. All the bays are covered with ribbed vaults with
bosses decorated by the coat of arms of the Chiaramonte, of the Aragonese, and of Palermo.

The Norman elements are also present in the marble capitals of the twin columns. Ten of
the eleven couples are 14" century copies of the capitals of Monreale cloister®. The decision to
copy the Monreale capitals was probably due to Manfredi IIT who controlled almost the entire
island by that time and felt as a new king of Norman descent".

The Catalan gothic influence manifested in the ribbed vaults of the church and of the clois-
ter is also visible in the front of the Chapter house where the left window preserves an intricate
tracery composed by three trefoil heads and five quatrefoils (Ill. 96). The sculpted details are
made in a different way: the capitals and the corbels are rendered with a metallic carving.

8 Spatrisano and Caracciolo hypothesize that the porch was made during the works finished in 1511

by the archbishop Giovanni Paterno, but the portal with his coat of arm doesn’t fit in the structure [see 39,
p- 158; 14, p. 11].

J For the capitals see [9; 10; 23; 24; 28, pp. 228-229].

The family’s original name was Clermont, it came to South Italy from Normandy following the
Great Count Roger (1040-1101) [39, p. 271].

10
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The churches of S. Antonio allo Steri and S. Maria degli Angeli in Baida are probably the
first examples of Catalan gothic influence in the city of Palermo. After the fall of Chiaramonte
in 1392 and the normalization of the city under the dominion of the Aragonese kings other
masterpieces were produced, such as the palaces Abatelli and Ajutamicristo, made by Matteo
Carnilivari (active in 1487-1493), and the church of S. Maria della Catena, all built at the end
of the 15™ century — beginning of the 16" century.

These examples show how Palermo and Sicily, even in the end of the Middle Ages, re-
mained a border land where local traditions and external influences were mixed into a new
local language.
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Abstract. During the Middle Ages Sicily is characterized by a great plurality of influences due to the posi-

tion of the island, between the West and the East, in the Mediterranean basin making it a border land where
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different cultures coexisted influencing each other. The Norman dominion created a unique kind of cultural
syncretism that was typical of this region until the 15" century. After the Sicilian Vespers (1282), when the
island revolted against the Angevin dominion, the crown of the Sicilian kingdom was offered to Peter III of
Aragon (1273/74-1337). The new king had no real power, and the baronial families, divided in Latin and
Catalan fractions, ruled the island. These families showed their power through the construction of their resi-
dences, new ecclesiastical buildings and family chapels.

In Palermo in the decoration of private palaces the use of Arabic stone inlay, or tarsia, becomes an expres-
sion of the Latin fraction. The stone tarsia was also used in religious buildings, such as the fagade of S. Agos-
tino church, built at the end of the 13* century, or the Calvello chapel in S. Francesco built at the beginning of
the 14™ century, both build by private commission. This kind of decoration during this period was probably
used as a political message of the Latin families adversary to the Catalan, Iberian families that arrived to the
island with the Aragon king.

Only in the second half of the 14™ century new architectural language appeared in buildings such as
St. Antonio at Steri constructed by Manfredi III Chiaromonte (1 1391), where the stone decoration was aban-
doned and new elements were used, such as the ribbed vaults and a rib-vaulted apse. Another Chiaramonte
commission, St. Maria in Baida, shows the use of Catalan gothic motives in the architectural decoration.

The focus of this paper is to underline how the island in its condition of border land was subjected to the
influence of other cultures which expanded its horizons in the arts and architecture.

Keywords: Palermoy; Sicily; architecture; stone tarsia; private architecture; Chiaramonte; Gothic.

Haspanune crarbu. [Tanepmo B XIV Beke: MeXXIY TaTMHAHAMM ¥ KaTaJIOHLIAMIL.

Caepenns 06 aBrope. [Tnijony SHpUKO — acnupant. Yausepcurer Canuenna, Pum, IIbsiane Anbgo
Mopo, 5, 00185 Pum, Nrtanus. enrico.pizzoli@uniromal.it

AuHotaumsa. B cpenHeBekoBoit Crimmmy HabIOaeTCsl 3HAYUTEIbHOE PasHOOOpasye BIMSHMIA, 4YTO
CBSI3aHO C IOTPAaHMYHBIM IO OTHOIIEHMIO K 3aIlaJiHO- ¥ BOCTOYHOXPMCTMAHCKOMY MMUPY IIOJIOKEHMEM
OCTpPOBa B CPeIN3eMHOMOPCKOM OacceliHe, [eMaolyiM ero apeHol B3auMOEICTBIA PAa3INYHbIX KY/IbTYP.
B nepuop npaBienns HOPMaHHCKOJ AMHACTUM BOSHMK/IA YHUKAIbHAS CUTYALUs KY/IbTYPHOTO CUHKPETHU3-
Ma, coxpaHsBIIascs B pernoHe o XV B. [Tocne Curpmmiickoit Bedepun (1282), Kora HaceneHue 0CTpoBa
BOCCT/I0 IIPOTUB T'OCIIOAICTBA AHXYIICKOTO JJOMa, KOpoHa CHIMINIICKOTO KOpojIeBCcTBa OblIa IepefaHa
ITempo III Aparouckomy (1273/74-1337). HoBblit KOpoIb He 06/1afial peanbHOI BIACTBIO, M OCTPOBOM IIpa-
BIJIM IPENCTaBUTEIM MECTHOI 3HATH, pasfenuBlIvecs Ha Gpakuyy «IATUHAH» U «KaTaloHIeB». OfHUM
U3 CIIOCOOO0B [IeMOHCTPALIMY BIMSHIUS 3HATHBIX POOB CTA/IO0 CTPOUTENIBCTBO PE3VECHIVIL 11 3aKa3 HOBBIX
LiepKBeli 11 ceMeilHbIX Karne/L. B [TanepmMo «MapKupoBKoil» 3aKasa QpaKLuy IATVHSH CTaI) MHKPYCTALUN
apabCKoro THIla U3 IBeTHOTO KaMHH, WIN tarsid, VICIIONb3yeMble B IeKOpe YacTHBIX Hajaro. Tarsia uc-
MI0/Tb30BAJINCD TAK)KE VI B PETUTHO3HBIX COOPY KEHMAX, CBA3AHHBIX C JACTHBIM 3aKa30M, HAIIpUMep B IeKOpe
¢dacana nepksu Can-Aroctuso (koHer X111 B.) wnn kamerust Kanbsenno B nepksu Can-®pandecko (Hadano
XIV B.). Vcnionb3oBaHye TAKOTO THUIIA IEKOPa B 9TOT IIEPHOJ MOYKHO PaCcCMATPMBATD KaK IIPOsIB/ICHNE IO/~
THYECKOTO B/IMSIHUS 3HATHBIX POJIOB «IATMHCKOI» (QpaKuny, BpaKgeOHO HACTPOEHHBIX 110 OTHOLIEHNIO K
pUOBIBIIMM Ha OCTPOB BCIE], 3 KOPO/IEM-aparoHijeM KaTaTOHCKIM 1 MOePUIICKUM CEMbSIM.

Tompko Bo BTOpOIt MonoByHe XIV B. Ha CHIMINU TIOABMAIOTCA 97IEMEHTBI HOBOTO apXUTEKTYPHOTO
AsbIKa. Tak, HanpyuMmep, B nepksu CanT-AHTOHMO B Crepn, noctpoennoit Mandpenom III Kpsapamonre
(ym. 1391) ucnonp3yioTcs: HepBIOpHbIe CBOABI B Hede u ancupe. B gexope nepksu Canra-Mapusa-nH-Baiina,
BO3BE/IEHHON TaKXe 110 3aKa3y KbApaMoHTe, IOABAIOTCA 97IEMEHThl apXUTEKTYPHOTO JeKOPa, 3aIMCTBO-
BaHHBIE 13 KaTaJIOHCKOI TOTUKI.

[maBHas 3afja4a CTaTh)t — IOKa3aTh, KAKMM 00pa3oM 61arofaps HOrpaHIIHOMY IOI0XKEHNIO U BIIVIAHIIO
Pa3MMYHBIX TPAJULNI paclIMPAIOTCA TPAHUIBI APXUTEKTYPHOTO U XyHNO>KECTBEHHOTO A3bIKA B Ky/IbType
Cunymun XIII-XIV BB.

Knrouesnie cnosa: [lanepmo; Cunmnms; apXuTeKTypa; MHKPYCTAIIUM U3 KAMHs; YaCTHbIN apXUTEKTYp-
HBIiT 3aKa3; KbapaMoHTe; roTuka.



852 Plates

1. 94. Chiaramonte palace. 14" century. Palermo. Photo by E. Pizzoli
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